

This is a repository copy of *Evaluating the purification and activation of metal-organic frameworks from a technical and circular economy perspective*.

White Rose Research Online URL for this paper: <u>https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/224616/</u>

Version: Accepted Version

#### Article:

Woodliffe, J.L., Ferrari, R.S., Ahmed, I. et al. (1 more author) (2021) Evaluating the purification and activation of metal-organic frameworks from a technical and circular economy perspective. Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 428. 213578. ISSN 0010-8545

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2020.213578

© 2020, Elsevier. This manuscript version is made available under the CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/. This is an author produced version of an article published in Coordination Chemistry Reviews. Uploaded in accordance with the publisher's self-archiving policy.

#### Reuse

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND) licence. This licence only allows you to download this work and share it with others as long as you credit the authors, but you can't change the article in any way or use it commercially. More information and the full terms of the licence here: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Takedown

If you consider content in White Rose Research Online to be in breach of UK law, please notify us by emailing eprints@whiterose.ac.uk including the URL of the record and the reason for the withdrawal request.



eprints@whiterose.ac.uk https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/

### Manuscript:

Evaluating the purification and activation of metal-organic frameworks from a technical and circular economy perspective

John Luke Woodliffe<sup>a,b</sup>, Rebecca Ferrari<sup>b</sup>, Ifty Ahmed<sup>b</sup>, Andrea Laybourn<sup>b,\*</sup>

- a) School of Chemistry, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, NG7 2RD, UK
- b) Faculty of Engineering, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, NG7 2RD, UK

\*Corresponding author. Email: andrea.laybourn@nottingham.ac.uk

# Abstract

Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) are highly porous materials consisting of metal ions or clusters linked by organic molecules. The high value of MOFs arises from the amount of empty space within their structure (up to 90%) and their tuneable structures and functionalities. To take full advantage of their porosity, MOFs must first be purified and activated whereby pore blocking agents present after synthesis are removed from the pores of the MOF thus exposing their high internal surface areas. Purification and activation can be challenging from both a technical perspective, due to possible framework collapse, and a sustainability perspective, due to high energy and resource demands. The circular economy model aims to eliminate waste and avoid continual use of finite resources whilst balancing considerations of society, the economy, and the environment. Its application to the chemical industry has resulted in the field of sustainable chemistry which focuses on the design, manufacture, and use of efficient and more environmentally benign chemical products and processes. In this contribution we critically evaluate the technical benefits and challenges of current MOF purification and activation methods, including against principles from the circular economy model, focusing on considerations for scalability, waste reduction, material reuse, and energy efficiency. We also discuss how a circular economy approach could inform the design and manufacture of future economically and environmentally sustainable MOF purification and activation processes which are key to realising the immense opportunities offered by these materials.

# Abbreviations

BDC	1,4-Benzenedicarboxylate
BET	Brunauer-Emmett-Teller
bipy	2,2'-Bipyridine
btb	Benzene-1,3,5-tribenzoate
BTC	1,3,5-benzenetricarboxylate
CAPEX	Capital expenditure
COF	Covalent-organic framework
CVB	4-(2-carboxyvinyl)benzoate
DCM	Dichloromethane
DEF	N, N-Diethylformamide
dhtp	6,6'-Dihydroxy terpyridine
DMA	N,N-Dimethylacetamide
DMF	N,N-Dimethylformamide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DOT	2,5-Dioxidoterephthalate
DUT	Dresden University of Technology
FIR	Fujian Institute of Research
FJI	Fujian Institute
FT-IR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
fum	Fumarate
HCI	Hydrochloric acid
HKUST	Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
IRMOF	Isoreticular metal-organic framework

MFC	Magnetic framework composite
MFM	Manchester Framework Material
MIL	Materials of Institut Lavoisier
mIM	2-Methylimidazolate
MISA	Magnetic induction swing adsorption
MOF	Metal-organic framework
NDC	2,6-Naphthalenedicarboxylate
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NOTT	Nottingham (University of)
NU	Northwestern University
OPEX	Operational expenditure
PCN	Porous coordination network
PFA	Perfluoroalkoxy
PXRD	Powder X-ray diffraction
SCD	Supercritical carbon dioxide
SNU	Seoul National University
TBAPy(H <sub>4</sub> )	1,3,6,8-tetrakis(p-benzoicacid)pyrene
TC-TTF	Tetra(carboxyl)tetrathiafulvalene
TCPP(H <sub>2</sub> )	Tetrakis(4-carboxyphenyl)porphyrin
TGA	Thermogravimetric analysis
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TPDC	<i>p</i> -Terphenyl-4,4"-dicarboxylate
UiO	Universitetet i Oslo
UMCM	University of Michigan crystalline material
US	Ultrasound

UV-Vis	Ultraviolet-Visible
UVA	Ultraviolet A
WCED	World Commission on Environment and Development
XRD	X-ray diffraction
ZIF	Zeolitic imidazolate framework

# Contents

Abstracti					
Abbreviationsii					
Contentsv					
1 Introduction	1				
2 The Circular Economy and MOFs 2					
2.1 Background	2				
2.2 Further Applications	3				
3 MOF Purification and Activation Techniques	5				
3.1 Calcination	3				
3.2 Solvent Exchange	Э				
3.3 Supercritical CO <sub>2</sub> (SCD)	2				
3.4 Freeze-drying	3				
3.5 Microwave Heating	5				
3.6 Ultrasound (US)17	7				
3.7 UV-Vis	3				
3.8 Induction Heating	כ				
3.9 Acid Treatment	כ				
4 Assessment of Purification and Activation Techniques	1				
5 Conclusions and Future Outlook27					
δ Conflicts of Interestν					
7 Acknowledgements					
Referencesv					

### 1 Introduction

Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) are a class of porous coordination polymers consisting of metal ions or clusters as nodes and organic molecules as linkers.<sup>1</sup> As a result of their tuneable nature and high internal surface areas, MOFs have been proposed for wide-ranging energy and environmental applications such as in selective gas adsorption and separation,<sup>2</sup> hydrogen storage,<sup>3</sup> fuel cells,<sup>4</sup> artificial photosynthesis and solar energy conversion,<sup>5</sup> as chemical sensors,<sup>6</sup> catalysis,<sup>7</sup> drug delivery and biomedicine,<sup>8</sup> and more.<sup>9</sup> Some MOFs have now emerged onto the commercial market via BASF<sup>10</sup> and university spin out companies producing industrially relevant quantities<sup>11</sup> and with products in areas such as toxic gas storage, food preservation, and antimicrobial coatings.<sup>12</sup> Although MOF synthesis techniques have been well reviewed in the literature,<sup>13,14</sup> and scalability and sustainability assessments have been made,<sup>15,16</sup> the final key steps in producing MOFs with permanent porosity, purification and activation, are often overlooked.

During purification and activation the important high surface area is made available by removing pore blocking agents (*e.g.* solvent or other chemicals, such as modulators, used during the synthesis) from the pores of the framework.<sup>17</sup> This has traditionally been challenging, as during activation the structural integrity of the MOF can be compromised and framework collapse can occur, resulting in a loss of porosity and ultimately a drastic reduction in the usefulness of the material.<sup>17</sup> Although significant progress has been made in overcoming pore collapse for established activation procedures such as solvent exchange, supercritical carbon dioxide processing, and freeze drying, exemplified by successful activation of several frameworks;<sup>18–20</sup> their contribution towards the sustainability and scalability of overall MOF production is largely neglected. These routes typically involve significant energy and solvent consumption. Recently technologies such as microwave heating, UV-Vis irradiation, and ultrasound treatment have been explored for MOF purification and activation.<sup>21–23</sup> Though these routes offer improved energy efficiency, further optimisation is needed in order to realise an environmentally and economically sustainable MOF production route required by industry.

The circular economy is a topical economics model aimed towards sustainable development.<sup>24</sup> It seeks to balance considerations of society, the economy and the environment through principles such as waste prevention and life cycle assessment. Its application to the chemical industry has led to the development of the field of sustainable and circular chemistry and chemical engineering, where resource and energy efficiency are key factors when evaluating research at all levels.<sup>25</sup> Improving the scalability and sustainability of MOF purification and activation techniques by applying principles of the circular economy would significantly contribute towards industrial scale production of MOFs,

allowing their property benefits to reach real-world applications. Opportunities for circular processing such as the reuse of chemicals used in the purification and activation steps would hugely benefit largescale production, reducing cost, waste, and environmental impact.

In this perspective we critically review the current state of the art in MOF purification and activation techniques by comparing their technical benefits and challenges against principles from the circular economy model and 'twelve principles of circular chemistry'.<sup>25</sup> Considerations for scalability, waste reduction, material reuse, and energy efficiency are also evaluated. Importantly, we discuss how a circular economy model may inform the design of prospective MOF purification and activation processes. This paper is not intended to be an exhaustive review of the literature, but instead will highlight considerations for some of the most important advances in MOF purification and activation to date. As such, this review will serve as a guide for progressing this area by identifying future research and development opportunities.

# 2 The Circular Economy and MOFs

#### 2.1 Background

Sustainability, as defined by the World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED), is "Development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs".<sup>26</sup> Moreover, sustainable development aims at striking a balance between economic development, environmental impact, and societal equity – the triple bottom line developed by Elkington in 1998.<sup>27</sup>

The circular economy is an economic system aimed at sustainability, developing the economy without the depletion of finite natural resources.<sup>24</sup> The concept is often first attributed to Pearce and Turner in their work on the economics of natural resources and the environment in 1991.<sup>28</sup> It can broadly be defined as an economic system which replaces the linear 'make-use-dispose' concept with that of reducing, reusing, and recycling materials through the production, distribution, and consumption processes, decoupling the consumption of resources from economic growth.<sup>24</sup> The European Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC)<sup>29</sup> provides a useful waste hierarchy and definitions of terms, and the European Commission's Circular Economy Package<sup>30</sup> offers a helpful look at some practical applications. A consideration of the application of these initial principles in the life cycle of MOFs is given below:

• Reduction in industry is implemented through minimising the amount of energy and raw materials used, and minimising waste or emissions generated.<sup>31</sup> In the context of MOFs, the

reduction principle could involve more resource efficient synthesis, purification and activation routes, such as reduced solvent or solvent free methods,<sup>32,33</sup> (noting that some solvent free methods are typically energy intensive), reduced duration of these processes, or higher yields and conversion efficiencies. Waste can be further reduced by considering and minimising the toxicity of reagents used throughout MOF production. By-products generated during production would then have greater potential for reuse within the production process or in alternative processes. For methods which involve heating, energy requirements could be reduced by more efficient heating during synthesis and/or purification and activation, such as by microwave or induction methods.<sup>34,35</sup>

- Reuse has been shown to be less demanding on the environment, requiring fewer resources, less energy and less labour when compared with the manufacturing of a product from virgin materials, recycling or disposing.<sup>36</sup> With respect to MOFs, the reuse principle could be applied by collecting the solvent and unreacted starting materials from synthesis, purification, and activation, using them again for the next batch. However, the level of purity and associated costs must also be considered. For end applications, the MOF structures need to be stable and able to be regenerated over multiple cycles whilst still retaining their key functional properties, either *in situ* or externally,<sup>37</sup> which can be designed in the synthesis stage.
- Recycling, although clearly reduces the amount of waste sent for disposal, also carries the risk of taking emphasis away from the more impactful principles of reduction and reuse. Recycling is less sustainable than reducing or reusing in terms of resource efficiency and profitability, being limited by material complexity.<sup>38,39</sup> In MOF use, this principle may be applied when reuse is not feasible. If the spent MOF, waste solvent, or unreacted starting materials can't be collected for reuse, they may still be recycled for use in other applications, *e.g.* MOF-derived materials for electrochemical energy storage and conversion.<sup>40</sup> The geometry of manufactured MOF products and the selection of amenable binders will aid the separation and recycling processes.<sup>41,42</sup>

#### 2.2 Further Applications

Additional principles for a circular economy have been highlighted in a report by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation in 2014.<sup>43</sup> Firstly, products should be designed and optimised for a cycle of disassembly and reuse. This would design out waste and reduce energy and labour loss. For example, MOFs could be designed at the synthesis stage to have high reusability in their end applications, and to be easily broken down into constituent parts at end-of-life. Secondly, it was noted that a differentiation should be made between the consumable and the durable components of a product. Consumable

components should be largely biological (defined by the Ellen MacArthur Foundation as materials that can safely re-enter the natural world)<sup>44</sup> and non-toxic, and able to be returned to the biosphere after use. Durable components are those which cannot biodegrade, such as metals or plastics, and should be designed for reuse or upgrade. MOFs would fit the 'durable components' category and so should be designed for reuse or upgrade, for example, by post-synthetic modification.<sup>45</sup> Thirdly, it was emphasised that the energy used in powering this cycle should be entirely renewable; this would not only decrease the dependence on finite resources, but also increase systems resilience.<sup>43</sup> Efforts should be made to minimise energy use and maximise efficiency in MOF life cycles.

Using the concept of the circular economy and taking into account the triple bottom line of sustainable development, researchers at the University of Amsterdam re-evaluated the twelve principles of green chemistry<sup>46</sup> into an analogous twelve principles for 'circular chemistry'.<sup>25</sup> These help assess the sustainability of a chemical process, enabling the transition from a linear to a circular economy model in the chemical industry. They shifted the focus from 'green' chemistry to 'sustainable' chemistry, using life-cycle and circularity thinking to renovate the field.<sup>25,47</sup> These principles have been used in this work to assess the opportunities for circularity and increased sustainability in the life cycle of MOFs, as shown in Figure 1. Similar principles have already been used to assess other products and feedstocks, such as food waste in a biorefinery,<sup>48</sup> insulation materials in the construction industry<sup>49</sup> and also elsewhere in the chemical industry<sup>50</sup> in order to shift from linear to circular economy models.

Throughout the whole MOF life cycle in Figure 1, the principle of reduction is applied in designing for maximum resource conversion and process and energy efficiencies, with no chemical toxicity released into the environment. The 'Resource Hierarchy' is also shown in Figure 1, which is highlighted by Keijer *et al.* to assess the end-of-life options for a product.<sup>25</sup> Higher options on the ladder are more favourable and should be implemented more frequently than lower options. It is also emphasised that service-based business models should be adopted, which shift ownership back to the producer encouraging efficiency and durability over production rate and quantity. This approach would help promote the manufacture of MOFs with long service lives and higher resource efficiencies. The regeneration stage in Figure 1 shows the collection of captured molecules for alternative uses; this would be dependent on the application of the MOF and what molecules have been captured. For example, in the use of MOFs for post-combustion carbon capture, the captured CO<sub>2</sub> could be collected upon regeneration and used as a chemical feedstock.<sup>51</sup>



Figure 1: A representation of circular and sustainable opportunities in a MOF life cycle, applying principles of 'circular chemistry' including the 'Resource Hierarchy' ladder<sup>25</sup>

### **3** MOF Purification and Activation Techniques

Significant progress has been made in developing energy and resource efficient methods for MOF synthesis.<sup>15,16</sup> However, less information can be found about the sustainability of other areas in a MOF life cycle. Purification and activation are major steps in the overall MOF production process and can often be resource, energy, and time intensive. Indeed, the high costs of downstream processing (which may be greater than the reaction steps) in many chemical processes are frequently overlooked, and this is also the case for MOFs. This section of the review focuses on the state of the art in MOF purification and activation techniques, providing a technical comparison and an assessment from sustainability and scalability perspectives. Further opportunities for improving the sustainability of other areas of a MOF life cycle are also shown in Figure 1.

The terms 'purification' and 'activation' are sometimes used interchangeably in the literature. In this review, 'purification' refers to removal of any unreacted or decomposed reactants or other chemicals from within the MOF structure, which can then be followed by a final activation step. 'Activation' refers to complete removal of pore blocking agents, leaving an empty framework. The whole process (purification and activation) can involve single or multiple stages.

Purification and activation are typically the final steps in MOF production and most often involve the removal of encapsulated solvents or unreacted organic linkers from within the framework to yield a MOF with high internal surface area and permanent porosity.<sup>52</sup> Often surface areas and pore volumes observed experimentally are lower than those predicted by simulations, and this is usually attributed to incomplete purification and activation or framework collapse.<sup>17,53</sup> Although experimentally achieved surface areas are not a requisite of theoretical values, simulations do provide a guideline as to how much room for improvement there is in the purification and activation of a particular MOF.<sup>54</sup> A challenge for the activation step is to find a process which does not cause structural collapse of the MOF, resulting in a loss of porosity.

Beyond the laboratory scale further challenges arise in developing purification and activation processes capable of producing MOFs, consistently with high porosity and at the correct cost base and with minimal environmental impact. The techniques presented in the following sections such as calcination, solvent exchange, supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>, freeze drying, microwave heating, ultrasound, UV/Vis (radical and photothermal processes), induction heating, and acid treatment will be compared in this context. A simplified schematic of representative examples of these techniques is shown in Figure 2; corresponding sections for each technique in this review are given in brackets.



*Figure 2: Simplified overview of representative purification and activation techniques including their corresponding sections in this review in brackets* 

#### 3.1 Calcination

The traditional strategy for activating porous materials such as zeolites and carbons is simple heating under vacuum.<sup>17</sup> This method has been referred to as both calcination, defined by IUPAC as "heating to high temperatures in air or oxygen",<sup>55</sup> and conventional heating. Henceforth, we denote this method as "calcination" to indicate heating in both the presence or absence of vacuum; cases where a vacuum is applied will be stipulated. Calcination has also been applied to MOFs and their composites, and studies have been conducted to ascertain the effect of calcination temperature on surface area and pore structure.<sup>56</sup> Some MOFs successfully activate under this method due to their high stability, such as UiO-66 (composed of [Zr<sub>6</sub>O<sub>4</sub>(OH)<sub>4</sub>] clusters with BDC struts, activated at 300 °C),<sup>57</sup> Zn(BDC) (activated at 140 °C and 5 × 10<sup>-5</sup> Torr),<sup>58</sup> and Ni<sub>2</sub>(4,4'-bipy)<sub>3</sub>(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (activated at 100 °C).<sup>59</sup> In other cases solvent removal has been shown to cause an advantageous change in crystal structure, *e.g.* [Co<sup>II</sup>(H<sub>2</sub>O)<sub>6</sub>]H<sub>2</sub>(TC-TTF)·2H<sub>2</sub>O.<sup>60</sup> For this MOF, significant structural rearrangements occur on activation (desolvation steps at 50, 80 and 120 °C), leaving an empty-channel framework showing selectivity to guest sorption.

Calcination has also been used to purify and activate MOFs by removing trapped organic linker molecules from within the pores of the MOF. For example, disordered H<sub>2</sub>BDC molecules were removed from the 1 D rhombic-shaped tunnels of Al(OH)(BDC) (MIL-53(Al)) by calcination at 330 °C in air for three days.<sup>61</sup> It was later shown that higher BET surface areas could be achieved using a higher calcination temperature of 400 °C (1140 and 1203 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> for calcination at 330 and 400 °C, respectively).<sup>62</sup> These temperatures do not result in framework collapse for MIL-53(AI) due to its high thermal stability; thermal decomposition does not begin until 500 °C.<sup>61</sup> Also noteworthy is that H<sub>2</sub>BDC sublimes at 402 °C,<sup>63</sup> meaning it could potentially be collected during purification/activation and reused without having decomposed. Despite these successes, loss of crystallinity and porosity can occur in MOFs during calcination as a result of high surface tension induced capillary forces created from liquid solvent removal during activation.<sup>64</sup> This occurs in many MOFs, resulting in calcination being unsuitable for activation.<sup>17</sup> An example of loss of crystal structure upon activation can be seen in copper porphyrin frameworks.<sup>65</sup> Calcination may also be unsuitable for MOFs where the temperatures required for linker removal are above the thermal stability of the MOF. For example, we have seen that H<sub>2</sub>BDC molecules are effectively removed at 400 °C for MIL-53(AI);<sup>62</sup> however, MIL-53(Cr) and MIL-53(V), both also containing  $H_2BDC$ , are only stable up to 350 °C.<sup>61</sup>

Calcination is inherently scalable; however, large amounts of energy and space/footprint are required to heat up sizable volumes of material and careful design considerations are required to ensure even heat distribution otherwise MOF destruction may occur.<sup>66</sup> Lowering the pressure by applying vacuum

can also be difficult as scale increases. Temperatures required can be high (typically >100 °C) and are dependent on the boiling or decomposition temperature of the solvent, the sublimation or decomposition temperature of any trapped linker, and whether solvent molecules or other chemicals are coordinated to metal sites. The process also often takes many hours. For example, without the use of a vacuum, Cu-BTC-MOF (denoted Cu-MOF by Mueller *et al.*<sup>67</sup>) required drying at 120 °C overnight followed by activation at 250 °C,<sup>67</sup> Zn(BDC) (MOF-2) involves activation at 200 °C for 8 hours<sup>67</sup>, and Cu<sub>3</sub>(BTC)<sub>2</sub> (HKUST-1) also requires heating at 200 °C.<sup>68</sup> Even recently reported MOFs such as [Al<sub>2</sub>(OH)<sub>2</sub>(C<sub>16</sub>O<sub>8</sub>H<sub>6</sub>)](H<sub>2</sub>O)<sub>6</sub> (NOTT-300/MFM-300), promising in NO<sub>2</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> capture, still require drying at 50 °C for 18 hours and activating at 120 °C for 15 hours under vacuum (10<sup>-5</sup> bar).<sup>69,70</sup> The high energy requirements and long timescales make calcination an undesirable technique for use in large-scale MOF production. The process is unfavourable from a sustainability standpoint due to the high energy usage from inefficient conductive heating (indirect). The main benefits of calcination are that it is simple and cost-effective at lab-scale and no additional solvents are required during activation. Furthermore, calcination is a generic method that is applicable widely and is well established.

#### 3.2 Solvent Exchange

One route to avoiding the structural collapse of a MOF during activation is to decrease the capillary forces exerted by the solvent on the framework. This can be done by exchanging the high boiling point solvent used in synthesis, now trapped in the pores, for one with a lower boiling point. These solvents have weaker intermolecular interactions and lower surface tensions, and hence lower capillary forces.<sup>17</sup> This method would also potentially decrease the energy required during activation, as only mild heating (usually  $\leq 60$  °C) under vacuum is necessary. This method usually involves first washing the MOF with the reaction solvent to remove uncoordinated linkers or other impurities, then washing and soaking the MOF in a new solvent.<sup>53</sup> A soxhlet extraction set up whereby the insoluble porous material is continually washed with hot solvent (typically used for microporous polymers)<sup>71–74</sup> can also be used for solvent exchange in MOFs, as in Co<sub>2</sub>(dhtp) and Zn(mIM)<sub>2</sub> (ZIF-8).<sup>75</sup> However, with this technique the energy costs of using or refluxing hot solvents would need to be considered, and could prove higher than that of calcination, depending on the latent heats of evaporation and quantities of solvents used.

The first example of solvent exchange for MOF activation was reported for  $Zn_4O(BDC)_3$  (MOF-5), where DMF and chlorobenzene from the synthesis step were fully replaced with chloroform. Chloroform can then be removed from the pores within three hours at room temperature and  $5 \times 10^{-5}$  torr without structural damage.<sup>76</sup> MOF-5 has also been activated by exchanging diethylformamide for acetone

followed by heating at 60 °C for 3 hours at <0.2 mbar.<sup>67</sup> Another example is reported for  $Zr_6(\mu_3-OH)_8(OH)_8TBAPy)_2$  (NU-1000). In this case adsorption and desorption isotherms for N<sub>2</sub> showed that framework collapse had occurred when activated from water, resulting in a much lower adsorption when compared to activation from acetone.<sup>53</sup> Further examples of MOFs benefiting from solvent exchange include the IRMOFs,<sup>77</sup> such as  $Zn_4O(H_2N-BDC)_3$  (IRMOF-3) and  $Zn_4O(TPDC)_3$  (IRMOF-16), which both show greatly improved N<sub>2</sub> uptake when activated from chloroform following solvent exchange from DMF.<sup>78</sup>

A recent study investigated the use of ultra-low (*i.e.*  $\leq$  20 mNm<sup>-1</sup>) surface tension solvents to avoid structural collapse in more fragile MOFs.<sup>18</sup> In this example Zn<sub>4</sub>O(naphthalene-2,6-dicarboxylate)<sub>1.5</sub>(biphenyl-4,4'-dicarboxylate)<sub>1.5</sub> (UMCM-9) had previously failed to activate with solvent exchange, undergoing a partial collapse from chloroform (surface tension: 27.2 mNm<sup>-1</sup>) resulting in a reduced surface area of 1330 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> compared to the theoretical value of 4900 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> (calculated from its structure).<sup>79</sup> When solvent exchanged with *n*-hexane (surface tension: 17.9 mNm<sup>-1</sup>), a higher surface area of 4980 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> was obtained, close to the predicted theoretical value.<sup>18</sup> Similar results were observed for MOF Zn<sub>6</sub>(btb)<sub>4</sub>(4,4'-bipy)<sub>3</sub>(DMF)<sub>55</sub>(H<sub>2</sub>O)<sub>32</sub> (FJI-1), where an even lower surface tension solvent, perfluoropentane (surface tension: 9.42 mNm<sup>-1</sup>), was required for the exchange. In this case activation from *n*-hexane resulted in an undesirable surface area of < 100 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>. When perfluoropentane was used, a surface area of 4890 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> was measured, comparable to the theoretical value of 4741 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>. This study also reported rapid solvent exchange (minutes rather than days) and demonstrated that the rate of evacuation (between 380 and >225000 torr h<sup>-1</sup>) had no measurable impact on the surface area.

A detailed study of the effects of solvent exchange and activation on MOF structure was conducted by Dodson *et al.* in 2018.<sup>80</sup> A range of solvents (chloroform, THF, hexane) and MOFs containing Zn<sub>4</sub>O metal clusters (MOF-5, UMCM-9, and  $[Zn_4O(CVB)_3]\cdot13(DEF)\cdot2H_2O$  (SNU-70)) were investigated. By *in situ* 2D-PXRD monitoring it was found that when structural collapse did occur during activation, it was always during solvent evacuation rather than exchange. It was also noted that 2 $\theta$ -axis broadening of PXRD peaks was not indicative of framework collapse, as surface area was maintained. It was discovered that broadening may instead be caused by changes in the crystallite size of the MOF during solvent removal, with no decrease in bulk surface area. Retention of surface area was found to correlate, however, with preservation of crystallite orientation measured by a broadening along the  $\beta$ -axis.

An alternative solvent exchange method has also emerged utilising DCM to activate open metal sites in a series of MOFs, removing both pore-filling and coordinating solvent molecules.<sup>81–84</sup> Open metal

sites are desirable for many applications including catalysis, sensing and gas adsorption and separation, and so removing coordinated ligands is an important step in the activation of many MOFs.<sup>85</sup> Kim *et al.* first showed the use of DCM in activating copper-based MOFs HKUST-1 and Cu<sub>2</sub>(BDC)<sub>2</sub> (Cu-MOF-2) without the application of heat.<sup>81</sup> Prior to this report DCM has been popularly used in steps prior to thermal activation by calcination. The authors postulated a mechanism for their activation process whereby DCM replaces the coordinating solvent on copper, followed by spontaneous de-coordination owing to a low activation energy (room temperature thermal energy) leaving open metal sites. DCM exchange was shown to be effective for the de-coordination of water, ethanol, methanol, acetonitrile and DMF, without needing to apply heat or a vacuum. Kim *et al.* also showed that their DCM exchange process, followed by activation for two hours under vacuum at 25 °C, yields activated HKUST-1 with a surface area comparable to calcination under vacuum (150 °C for 12 h at 10<sup>-3</sup> torr); *i.e.* 1690 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> compared to 1740 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.

The DCM method was further developed by Bae *et al.* for the efficient removal of strongly coordinating solvents, such as DMF, DEF and DMSO; in these cases multiple coordination exchanges were required.<sup>82</sup> In this instance, the coordinating solvent is first exchanged with acetonitrile, methanol or ethanol, then subsequently with DCM. The process effectiveness was demonstrated with the successful activation of a thermally unstable MOF, Ni<sub>2</sub>(DOT) (Ni-MOF-74). An analogous treatment to DCM has also been conducted with chloroform, which proved effective at activating thermally deformable MOFs in mixed matrices with polymers.<sup>84</sup> The quick and complete removal of both pore-filling and coordinating solvents at room temperature makes DCM exchange an attractive and promising technique for MOF activation. From a temperature standpoint, this method is desirable for industrial application. However, the need for vacuum is disadvantageous since large and expensive equipment will be required. Further challenges include that it has yet to be tested on a wide range of MOFs and that the process currently requires a moisture-free environment.<sup>82</sup>

Solvent exchange techniques have shown wide applicability to a range of MOFs. Use of ultra-low surface tension solvents and detailed structural studies pave the way for increasing understanding and possible applications of this method. Furthermore, the milder heating and pressure conditions when compared to calcination are beneficial from an environmental perspective due to reduced energy requirements. However, when considering the scalability and sustainability of the solvent exchange method, thought needs to be given to the types and quantities of solvents involved. The use of many litres of toxic or highly flammable solvents is very unfavourable from an industrial standpoint, incurring high costs and large amounts of waste produced. Research has been conducted on a range of common solvents to assess their environmental impact and provide a useful selection guide.<sup>86</sup> Guidelines such as these should be consulted when considering MOF production and processing. If

solvents could be minimised and recycled in the process, solvent exchange could become a more viable method for industrial-scale MOF activation. However, this would require introducing processes for separation and collection of solvents, possibly increasing energy costs. Further challenges lie in processing the waste streams containing varying concentrations of different chemicals produced during the washing phases.

#### 3.3 Supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> (SCD)

Alongside efforts to avoid the structural collapse of delicate MOFs by solvent exchange, an alternative approach involving carbon dioxide was developed by Nelson *et al.* in 2008.<sup>78</sup> Typically, this process first involves solvent exchange with ethanol, then with liquid CO<sub>2</sub>. The CO<sub>2</sub>-loaded MOF is then heated above the critical point of carbon dioxide (31 °C and 73 atm), held for 30 minutes, then vented over 18 hours. This method was found to result in higher surface areas for a variety of MOFs when compared with calcination or solvent exchange (chloroform or THF) routes.<sup>78</sup> An example of an SCD experimental set-up and apparatus schematic can be found in Xiang *et al.*<sup>87</sup> The effectiveness was ascribed to the inhibition of mesopore collapse by removing surface tension and preventing detrimental MOF particle agglomeration, which would block access to micropores by causing their misalignment at particle-particle boundaries.

Since its discovery, SCD has been used to activate a variety of different MOFs. One such example is  $Cu_3(C_{60}H_{24}O_{12})(H_2O)_3$  (also known as NU-100), which features a hexa-carboxylated linker. For this MOF, SCD was found to be the only activation method capable of removing pore blocking solvent molecules without damaging the structure of the MOF.<sup>88</sup> Yaghi *et al.* further showed the usefulness of this method for activating a range of MOFs with surface areas as high as 6240 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>.<sup>89</sup> Furthermore, SCD has been shown to activate MOFs with a high capacity for hydrogen storage.<sup>87</sup> Since MOFs with increasing pore sizes tend to be more prone to framework collapse upon solvent evacuation, SCD was used to activate NU-109E and NU-110E. These MOFs exhibit surface areas amongst the highest reported to date, 7010 and 7140 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> for NU-109E and NU-110E, respectively.<sup>90</sup>

Alternative processing arrangements have also been investigated for SCD, such as flow activation, which allows a reduction in sample CO<sub>2</sub> purge time from approximately 16 hours to 30 minutes.<sup>78,79</sup> A more detailed comparison of the SCD treatment variations to date and the possible impacts of SCD on MOF structures has been reported by Dapaah *et al.*<sup>19</sup> Notably the authors mention that high surface areas may still be achieved without the solvent exchange step prior to liquid CO<sub>2</sub> exchange.

Although SCD has proven useful for activating many MOFs, there are still some materials where the surface areas are lower compared to alternative activation techniques. For example,

 $Cr_3OF(H_2O)_2(BDC)_3$  (MIL-101(Cr)) shows a similar BET surface area after purification in 1 M NH<sub>4</sub>F solution at 70 °C for 24 hours followed by activation at 100 °C under vacuum overnight when compared to SCD (3350 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> and 3400 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> respectively).<sup>91</sup> These results are ascribed to the zeolite-type topology of these MOFs;<sup>52</sup> *i.e.* they contain both super-tetrahedral cages which may prevent the collapse of the pores by capillary pressure, and also mesopores accessible through microporous windows.<sup>52,92</sup> However, the BET surface area of MIL-101(Cr) has been reported as high as 4100 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> after the use of a solvothermal treatment to evacuate free acid from within the pores.<sup>93</sup> In addition to MOFs containing trapped acid, those with open/coordinatively unsaturated metal sites may require heating in addition to SCD processing to remove coordinated solvents, as they can become strongly attached to metal centres.<sup>94</sup>

SCD is reportedly a scalable technology, which is cost-competitive and non-toxic.<sup>17</sup> However, SCD does require multiple steps including varying the temperature and pressure at different stages, which could render it an energy intensive and lengthy process. The comparative energy requirements of the heaters, chillers, and pumps per kilogram of CO<sub>2</sub> have been assessed by Martin *et al.* when using SCD for the extraction of oil seed rape.<sup>95</sup> The aforementioned flow SCD method may be quicker and more appropriate at an industrial scale but this route requires a specialised and expensive set up.<sup>53</sup> Often additional solvents are required prior to activation with CO<sub>2</sub>, which may also have a potentially negative impact on the sustainability of the technique. CO<sub>2</sub> is generally considered a 'green' solvent, and its use in industry can result in cleaner and less expensive processes.<sup>96</sup> Further sustainability improvements may be possible if CO<sub>2</sub> could be sourced from the environment (*e.g.* carbon capture) and reused along with any other solvents involved in SCD activation.

#### 3.4 Freeze-drying

Freeze-drying is a technique well-known in the porous materials industry. This method involves removal of frozen solvents from a porous host *via* sublimation under vacuum, resulting in a solvent-free porous material.<sup>97</sup> This process was first investigated for MOFs by Ma *et al.* in 2009.<sup>98</sup> They showed that replacement of high boiling-point solvents (DMF and DEF) in the pores and channels of two new 4,4-connected MOFs with benzene, followed by freeze-drying, could be used to successfully activate these MOFs. This method involves first washing the MOFs with methanol and chloroform, followed by several benzene washes and soaking in benzene overnight. The samples were then frozen at 0 °C and underwent three freeze-thaw cycles before drying in a vacuum for 24 hours in an ice bath, 24 hours at room temperature and 16 hours at 60 °C. The result was that MOFs containing elongated ligands with large channels (19.5 × 7.0 Å along the crystallographic *a* axis) could be activated without framework collapse. Ma *et al.* reported that the sublimation step bypassed the liquid-to-gas transition,

avoiding the surface tension induced capillary forces which can lead to damage. The MOFs tested (denoted by Ma *et al.* as compound 1 and 2) showed greatly increased BET surface areas from freezedrying (1560 and 1020 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> for compound 1 and 2, respectively) compared to solvent exchange then vacuum-drying at 60 °C overnight (526 and 791 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> for compound 1 and 2, respectively). Hydrogen uptake capacities were also higher for the freeze-dried materials (1.42 and 1.73 wt % compared to 0.78 and 1.26 wt % vacuum-dried for compounds 1 and 2, respectively). Also noteworthy in this study was the change in the PXRD pattern of the freeze-dried MOFs compared to that of the pristine samples. This was ascribed to a phase change caused by a breathing effect, which has also been observed in other materials.<sup>99</sup>

Later work by He *et al.* showed that cyclohexane could be used instead of benzene as the freeze-drying solvent; in this case for the activation of a novel MOF containing a nanosized ligand,  $[Zn_2L(imidazole)] \cdot 7(DMF)$  where L = Tris((4-carboxyl)phenylduryl)amine (FIR-3).<sup>100</sup> The porosity of this MOF was found to be dependent on the activation route with surface areas of 24.3, 266.0, and 497.2 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> reported for calcination, freeze-drying, and SCD, respectively. Although SCD processing resulted in the highest surface area, freeze-drying still showed a large improvement in surface area compared to calcination; furthermore, cyclohexane is much less toxic than benzene, thus this work represents a significant improvement in the freeze-drying technique.

The final example discussed herein of MOF activation by freeze-drying involves the production of a nano-version of HKUST-1 (particle size 100 nm to 5  $\mu$ m).<sup>20</sup> In their work, Wee *et al.* utilised freezedrying to not only remove ethanol solvent molecules but also limit MOF crystal growth.<sup>20</sup> This enabled the production of HKUST-1 with high crystallinity and porosity and a narrow particle size distribution. Wee *et al.* also showed that the freeze-dried nano-version of HKUST-1 outperformed hydrothermally synthesized HKUST-1 in catalysing the ring opening of styrene oxide with methanol (90% compared to 2% conversion), hypothesised by the authors to be a result of the shorter diffusional pathways.<sup>20</sup>

Currently only limited reports of MOF activation by freeze-drying exist in the literature, therefore, it is not yet clear how general this method will be for other MOFs. Furthermore, although the general principles of solvent exchange and freeze-drying are well established, further research is required to understand the effect of freeze-drying on possible crystal phase changes *e.g.* breathing effects.<sup>99</sup> Beyond the laboratory, freeze-drying is commonly used in both the food<sup>101</sup> and biopharmaceutical<sup>102</sup> industries, though it can be very demanding from an electricity standpoint.<sup>102,103</sup> Further considerations for industrial scale freeze-drying processes include: potential heat and mass transfer challenges;<sup>104</sup> the amount of heating and refrigeration required; and the length of the process, which can result in high electricity costs and associated environmental burden. This burden could be reduced

14

if the electricity used came from a renewable source. Capturing the exchanging and subliming solvents and reusing them would also serve to increase the sustainability of the process but may prove difficult due to the mixtures of solvents produced. It is, therefore, beneficial to limit the number of different solvents required, to simplify the collection and reuse process.

#### 3.5 Microwave Heating

Microwave technology has been used extensively in the synthesis of porous materials<sup>34,105,106</sup> and for regeneration of adsorbents (*e.g.* silica,<sup>107</sup> zeolites,<sup>108</sup> activated carbon<sup>109</sup>) after use, where it has demonstrated great advantages over conventional heating methods owing to improved energy and time efficiency as a result of targeted heating. However, only recently microwave heating has been considered and investigated as a purification and/or activation technique for porous materials post-synthesis (rather than during synthesis or for regeneration). For example, Campbell *et al.* used a microwave reactor to purify as-synthesised COF-5 (C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>4</sub>BO<sub>2</sub>, where COF is an acronym of covalent organic framework) by heating the material in dried acetone (55 °C, 20 min, 200 W) to extract any starting materials or impurities trapped in the porous structure.<sup>110</sup>

COFs are porous crystalline materials constructed from light elements (hydrogen, nitrogen, boron, carbon and oxygen) that are held together by strong covalent bonds.<sup>111</sup> The purification procedure reported by Campbell *et al.* is capable of removing the pore-blocking constituents without causing framework collapse. The BET surface area was measured after activation at 90 °C and 10<sup>-5</sup> bar, and a substantial increase in the surface area of the material was observed when the purification step was repeated, from 901 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> (as synthesised) to 1467 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> (after first extraction) and 2019 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> (after second extraction). A similar procedure was successfully used for C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>16</sub>B<sub>4</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (COF-102), involving microwave heating in THF.<sup>110</sup> Microwave synthesis and purification was further investigated for COF-5 by Ritchie *et al.* in 2010.<sup>112</sup> In this case microwave synthesised COF-5, which was subsequently purified by microwave irradiation in acetone, exhibited a higher surface area compared to purification by conventional acetone washing and filtering or simple desiccator drying. After activation at 120 °C and 10<sup>-5</sup> bar, the measured surface areas were 2335, 1927, and 1404 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> for microwave, acetone washing, and desiccator drying purification methods, respectively.

The first application of microwave-assisted purification and activation in MOFs was reported in 2017, with activation and modulator removal in zirconium MOFs.<sup>113</sup> Three MOFs; namely  $Zr_6O_4(OH)_4(BTC)_2(COOH)_6$ , MOF-808;  $Zr_6O_8(NDC)_3(CH_3COO)_2(C_2H_5OH)_7(DMF)$ , DUT-84; and UiO-66; were successfully activated (an acetic acid modulator and organic solvent was removed from the frameworks) by microwave irradiation in water (150 °C, 20 min), followed by washing and vacuum filtration. All MOFs showed partial removal of the acetic acid modulator, and complete extraction of

DMF used in synthesis by proton NMR. However, TGA data show that the activated frameworks contained some adsorbed moisture or other residual solvents. MOF structural integrity was retained during activation, and the catalytic activity of the MOFs for the hydrolysis of a chemical warfare agent simulant was shown to increase compared to the non-activated counterparts.

Further progress in microwave activation was achieved in 2019 by Lee *et al.*, for a range of MOFs.<sup>21</sup> In their work proton NMR showed that complete activation (removal of both coordinating and porefilling solvent) was achieved for HKUST-1 from a range of solvents (methanol or ethanol, acetonitrile, and DMF in 4, 8, and 35 minutes, respectively) under microwave irradiation of powder samples (600 W). Methanol proved to be the most efficient solvent for microwave activation in this study, ascribed by the authors as a combination of its low coordination strength and boiling point, and high dissipation factor compared to the other solvents tested. The authors also showed that solvent exchange with methanol prior to microwave activation led to a considerable reduction in microwave activation times for a range of MOFs compared to their DMF-containing analogues, specifically: 35 to 4 min for HKUST-1; 10 to 3 min for UiO-66; and 5 min for Ni, Mg, Co and Cu variants of MOF-74. We also add that a further benefit of solvent exchange from DMF is the avoidance of decomposition of DMF into carbon monoxide and dimethylamine. Furthermore, Lee *et al.* also highlighted a 100-fold reduction in energy requirements for activation of HKUST-1 *via* their method compared to thermal activation; *i.e.* energies of 5400 and 5800 W h for thermal activation from methanol and DMF, respectively *c.f.* 51 and 385 W h for microwave activation from methanol and DMF, respectively *c.f.* 

As with freeze-drying, very limited examples of microwave purification and activation of MOFs exist, therefore, further research into the generality of the approach is required. It is likely that some MOFs and/or solvents may not be suited to microwave heating (*e.g.* toluene, which can be considered as microwave transparent)<sup>114</sup>, and the effect of microwave heating on delicate frameworks remains unknown.

Microwave technology offers energy-efficient rapid and selective heating with the potential for energy and cost savings on an industrial scale,<sup>34</sup> as seen in mineral processing.<sup>115,116</sup> It also lends itself well to continuous processing. These factors all make the method more sustainable compared to other techniques such as calcination. However, scaling up microwave systems does require an understanding of the fundamental parameters to be applied in the design stage, such as dielectric properties, microwave penetration depth, and power density in the heated phase.<sup>34</sup> If these parameters are not well understood there can be difficulties in controlling the temperature, nonuniform heating, and limited microwave penetration depth.<sup>117</sup> Microwave heating has previously been used on an industrial scale for adsorbent regeneration for various materials including polymeric

16

adsorbents, activated carbon and alumina.<sup>118</sup> Patents are also available in this area, for example, the microwave regeneration of saturated solid noncarbon adsorbents.<sup>119</sup>

#### 3.6 Ultrasound (US)

Metal carboxylate MOFs have been widely studied due to their high porosities and stability in water and ambient conditions.<sup>120</sup> Among the most popular are the MIL-53<sup>61</sup> series and HKUST-1.<sup>121</sup> They contain 1,4-benzenedicarboxylate or 1,3,5-benzenetricarboxylate ligands respectively. An issue with many MOFs containing carboxylate ligands is that the corresponding acids can become trapped in the channels of the MOFs, as previously mentioned for MIL-53(AI) in section 3.1.

Few examples of MOF purification by ultrasound (US) are reported; in these cases, US has primarily been used for purification of MOFs constructed from carboxylate linkers resulting in solvated frameworks. Furthermore, the activation of MOFs is yet to be achieved using US. In 2009, Haque *et al.* investigated use of US treatment for the low temperature (< 100 °C) removal of unreacted H<sub>2</sub>BDC linkers from selected MOFs in the MIL-series.<sup>120</sup> The authors showed that MIL-53(AI) containing unreacted H<sub>2</sub>BDC linker can be purified at 70 °C by the addition of amide bases such as DMF and DMA and US treatment for one hour. Activation was confirmed after drying (150 °C, 15 h, without vacuum) by nitrogen adsorption and XRD. The versatility of their method was demonstrated by purification of further MOFs, namely MIL-53(Cr), VO(BDC) (MIL-47(V)), and MIL-101(Cr). Haque *et al.* also commented that their method may be applicable to MOFs where the temperatures required to remove unreacted linkers *via* calcination could lead to structural damage of the framework. Later in 2016, Israr *et al.* showed that HKUST-1 could also be purified with US treatment whereby unreacted chemicals was attributed to the rapid dissociation and diffusion under US.

A similar strategy was developed by Rubio-Martinez *et al.* using megasonics, a high frequency (2 MHz) form of ultrasound, for the purification of MIL-53(AI) and it's analogue AI(OH)(fum)·3.5H<sub>2</sub>O (also known as AI-fumarate) in continuous flow.<sup>23</sup> Both MOFs were purified by sequential washing in water and ethanol under US at 10 minutes per wash and for a total of 5 washes. US also facilitated separation of MOFs from the solvents. More details of their experimental set-up and a schematic of the apparatus can be found in their paper.<sup>23</sup> In the case of MIL-53(AI), purification using US followed by activation (under dynamic vacuum at 10<sup>-6</sup> torr and 140 °C for 8 hours) resulted in a material exhibiting a surface area of 1183 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>, which the authors note is a 47% increase compared to purification by standard centrifuge washing. The authors attributed the increase in surface area to improved removal of excess organic ligands from the MOF pores as a result of enhanced mass transfer from acoustic streaming during megasonic application. In addition to their megasonic downstream separation and purification

method, Rubio-Martinez *et al.* followed a water-based continuous flow synthesis to first prepare the two MOFs. This combination of flow synthesis and megasonic purification is an ideal candidate for industrial scale MOF production owing to benefits such as fast reaction time and cost-effectiveness.

From these limited examples, it can be deduced that US purification offers a potentially sustainable process, primarily due to low energy and solvent quantity requirements. However a major challenge with this route lies in achieving a uniform ultrasound distribution when scaling up beyond the laboratory; further information concerning this can be found in a recent review by Dong *et al.*<sup>123</sup> A further drawback of US purification is that it has so far been applied to very few MOFs. These limited studies, except for one example regarding ZIF-8,<sup>124</sup> involve MOFs comprised of carboxylate-linkers. Further research is also required to determine whether US or megasonics can be used for purification of fragile MOFs. The low bulk temperatures typical of this technique (<100 °C) may prove particularly useful in the purification of thermally unstable MOFs, though further activation is required to produce an empty framework.

#### 3.7 UV-Vis

Another low-energy, environmentally friendly purification and activation method recently applied to certain MOFs is UV-Vis irradiation. In 2014, Nguyen *et al.* reported the treatment of MIL-53(Fe) with aqueous hydrogen peroxide under UV-Vis irradiation, which resulted in the decomposition of unreacted H<sub>2</sub>BDC, thus enabling its extraction from the MOF.<sup>125</sup> This purification procedure was carried out in open air room temperature conditions, using an Osram Eversun (L 40 W/79 K) UVA source 20 cm from the MOF mixture. The H<sub>2</sub>BDC decomposition process was monitored as a function of hydrogen peroxide concentration by frequent sampling for FT-IR analysis. The maximum investigated concentration of 75 mM aqueous hydrogen peroxide solution was found to be most effective, with complete decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>BDC observed within 60 minutes. After filtration, thermogravimetric analysis showed that both DMF (the synthesis solvent) and H<sub>2</sub>BDC had been removed from the UV-Vis treated MIL-53(Fe) material leaving only water. In addition, PXRD showed the MOF to be undamaged. The suggested mechanism for UV-Vis purification from Nguyen *et al.*<sup>125</sup> is based on the photocatalytic activity of MIL-53(Fe) and production of hydroxyl radicals described by Ai *et al.* for the degradation of organic dyes in MIL-53(Fe) with hydrogen peroxide.<sup>126</sup>

In 2018 Espin *et al.* reported a photothermal activation process for MOFs.<sup>22</sup> This method relies on light-to-heat conversion, where UV-Vis irradiation causes heat to be generated locally within the material which evaporates solvent molecules. This principle is well known, and has already been applied, for instance, in water evaporation from light-absorbing nanoparticles.<sup>127</sup> Photochemistry has also previously been utilised in MOF applications, such as the use of concentrated sunlight in

regenerating adsorbed carbon dioxide from MOFs containing light-responsive organic linkers,<sup>128</sup> or silver nanocrystals.<sup>129</sup> Espin *et al.* showed that several MOFs containing absorption bands in the range 300 to 650 nm can be heated to *ca.* 120-170 °C in < 5 minutes by UV-Vis irradiation of powder samples under a stream of argon gas, resulting in removal of both trapped and coordinated solvent molecules.<sup>22</sup> Experimental details and a photograph of the equipment set-up can be found in the supporting information of their paper.<sup>22</sup> The effectiveness and efficiency of the localised heat generation by UV-Vis irradiation for HKUST-1 activation was demonstrated by the superior surface area achieved in comparison to the material calcined at the same temperature. The authors also commented that successful photothermal activation of IRMOF-3, which typically requires SCD activation in order to achieve an optimum surface area of 2850 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>, may indicate the applicability of their activation method for fragile MOFs.

An obvious limit of approaches making use of UV-Vis purification and/or activation is that MOFs must exhibit a photochemical response for the technique to be effective. Espin *et al.* demonstrated that MOFs which do not exhibit an absorption band in the 300 to 650 nm range, such as UiO-66 and ZIF-8, only show a mild photothermal effect upon irradiation resulting in incomplete activation and low BET surface areas compared to previous reports (UiO-66: 424 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> *c.f.* 1580 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>; ZIF-8: 1130 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup> *c.f.* 1400-1500 m<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>).<sup>22</sup> Another factor to be considered is the penetration depth of radiation through the material required to achieve homogeneous purification or activation, and the attenuation of photon intensity with path length.<sup>130</sup> In the case of photothermal activation, it may be difficult to control the resultant temperature, and since this method involves heating, its applicability to other thermally unstable MOFs requires further investigation. Although the hydroxide radical purification approach taken by Nguyen *et al.* does not involve any heating, a final activation step would still be required to produce an empty framework. In addition, only one MOF has shown to be effective in this technique so far, and the radical process may not work with many other MOFs, particularly those sensitive to hydroxyl radicals.<sup>125</sup> Since the H<sub>2</sub>BDC linkers decompose in this process, there is also limited scope for their reuse.

Both UV-Vis procedures could be considered sustainable due to their time and energy efficiencies, and both can be processed at room temperature and pressure without the use of toxic solvents. In comparison to many of the previously discussed purification and activation methods herein, these two procedures require less solvents, less expensive equipment, less energy and less time, making them promising techniques for use on an industrial scale. In addition, UV-Vis irradiation technology is easily scaled up and could be incorporated into continuous flow processes for the large-scale production of MOFs.

#### 3.8 Induction Heating

Having already considered the efficient localised heating offered by both microwave and UV-Vis technologies (sections 3.5 and 3.7, respectively), it is also worth mentioning the possibility of using magnetic induction heating for MOF purification and activation. Although the use of induction heating as a purification or activation process is yet to be reported for MOFs, it has been used in a similar principle to release adsorbed gases from inside these materials. The use of an alternating magnetic field for controlled desorption was first shown with zeolites, silica, and activated carbon.<sup>131</sup> Later, Magnetic Induction Swing Adsorption (MISA) was applied to magnetic framework composites (MFCs) comprised of MOFs and ferri-magnetic nanoparticles for the release of captured carbon dioxide.<sup>132</sup> MISA proved incredibly time and energy efficient, and promising for industrial scale use.<sup>133,134</sup> MISA has also been combined with a UV light irradiation method resulting in record levels of 96.8% of adsorbed carbon dioxide being released on demand.<sup>128,135</sup> The MISA process has also found successful application in methane separation and adsorption from landfill gas,<sup>136</sup> and oxygen capture and delivery.<sup>137</sup>

With the effective use of magnetic induction heating in both the production<sup>35</sup> and regeneration of MFCs,<sup>138</sup> it is plausible that the same method could be employed for the purification and activation of thermally stable MOFs. From a sustainability perspective this localised heating method is much more time and energy efficient compared to calcination and thus requires less energy and operational costs. However, a key drawback of induction heating is the requirement of the material to interact with a magnetic field, which would limit its application to specific MOFs and MFCs. However, given the major advantages that magnetism can bring for the industrial application of MOFs,<sup>139</sup> it is possible that more magnetic MOFs and MFCs will be produced in the future. If so, the use of induction heating for purification and activation may then become a more practical option.

#### 3.9 Acid Treatment

The final technique assessed in this review is acid treatment, which is frequently followed by calcination under vacuum to give the activated MOF. Acid treatment has often been used for zirconium based MOFs.<sup>140–142</sup> These MOFs typically require the use of modulators during synthesis for crystal and particle size control, which can then become trapped within the framework.<sup>143</sup> For example, Mondloch *et al.* showed that it was necessary to expose NU-1000, previously mentioned as an example of solvent exchange in section 3.2, to a HCl/DMF mixture at 100 °C for 24 hours in order to remove benzoic acid coordinated to the Zr<sub>6</sub> nodes, leaving behind terminal -OH groups.<sup>140</sup> This mechanism likely involved the protonation of coordinated benzoate ions which could not be driven off by heat, allowing benzoic acid to be removed as the neutral species.<sup>17</sup> The HCl impurities were then

removed by DMF and acetone washes, with final activation at 120 °C under vacuum for 12 hours.<sup>140</sup> The acid treatment used for NU-1000 is adapted from a procedure reported by Feng *et al.* who found that the porosity of a zirconium metalloporphyrin MOF,  $Zr_6(\mu_3-O)_8(OH)_8(TCPP)_2$  (PCN-222), could be increased by applying a dilute acid solution as a treatment prior to thermal activation.<sup>141</sup>

Acid treatment may prove useful for removing many different conjugate bases (in addition to benzoic acid) bound to a range of metal nodes within MOFs, which typically occurs during modulated synthesis of MOFs.<sup>144</sup> However, since thermal activation is still required after acid treatment, the overall technique may not be applicable to thermally sensitive MOFs. In addition, the same sustainability and scalability challenges apply as with calcination (e.g. high energy, space, and time requirements). Treatment with acid also requires the MOF to have high chemical stability to prevent hydrolysis and framework collapse.<sup>145</sup> This stability is often found in Zr-based MOFs due to the high coordination numbers of the metal ions and strong Zr-O coordination bonds between metal ions and donor ligands.<sup>145,146</sup>

### 4 Assessment of Purification and Activation Techniques

In this section we provide a comparative summary of the purification and activation techniques discussed in this review, from technical, sustainability, and scalability perspectives, alongside a brief discussion on costs. Examples of MOFs purified or activated by the techniques described herein and a summary of important considerations when choosing a particular technique (*e.g.* demonstration of the technique for removing organic linkers or activating fragile MOFs) are given in Table 1. It is hoped that these comparisons will aid future decision-making concerning MOF purification and/or activation at the laboratory scale and beyond.

Table 1: A comparison of purification and activation techniques and reported information from the literature. Relevant sections in this paper for each technique are given in brackets in column 1.

Technique	Key MOF examples	Solvents removed examples	Reported to remove organic linkers	Reported to remove coordinated solvents/ chemicals	Reported use with 'fragile' MOFs	Reported to fully activate MOFs	Ref.
Calcination (3.1)	UiO-66; MOF-2; Ni <sub>2</sub> (4,4'-bipy) <sub>3</sub> (NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>4</sub> ; [Co <sup>II</sup> (H <sub>2</sub> O) <sub>6</sub> ]H <sub>2</sub> (TC-TTF)·2H <sub>2</sub> O	DMF; H <sub>2</sub> O	✓	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	57–60,67
Solvent Exchange (3.2)	MOF-5; Co <sub>2</sub> (dhtp); ZIF-8; NU-1000; IRMOF- 3; IRMOF-16; UMCM-9; FJI-1; SNU-70; HKUST-1; Cu-MOF-2; Ni-MOF-74	DMF; DEF; Chlorobenzene; DMSO; MeCN; MeOH; EtOH; H <sub>2</sub> O	✓	V	✓	V	18,53,67, 75–78,81–84
Supercritical CO <sub>2</sub> (3.3)	IRMOF-3; IRMOF-16; UMCM-9; NU-100; NU-109E; NU-110E	DMF	×	×	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	19,78,87–90
Freeze-drying (3.4)	Cu <sub>2</sub> (L)(H <sub>2</sub> O) <sub>2</sub> <sup>a</sup> ; FIR-3; HKUST-1	DMF; DEF; H <sub>2</sub> O; EtOH	×	×	✓	$\checkmark$	20,98,100
Microwave Heating (3.5)	MOF-808; DUT-84; UiO-66; HKUST-1; MOF- 74	DMF; MeCN; EtOH; MeOH	×	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	21,113
Ultrasound (3.6)	MIL-53; MIL-47; MIL-101; HKUST-1	DMF; DMA	✓	×	×	×	23,120,122
UV/Vis – radical (3.7)	MIL-53(Fe)	DMF	<b>√</b>	×	×	×	125
UV/Vis – photothermal (3.7)	HKUST-1; UiO-66-NH <sub>2</sub> ; IRMOF-3; Fe-MIL- 101-NH <sub>2</sub> ; ZIF-67; CPO-27	DMF; EtOH; MeOH; H <sub>2</sub> O	×	✓	✓	✓	22
Induction Heating (3.8)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Acid Treatment (3.9)	NU-1000; PCN-222	N/A	×	$\checkmark$	×	×	140,141

<sup>a</sup>L-H<sub>4</sub>: methanetetra(*p*-benzoic acid) or methanetetra(biphenyl-*p* carboxylic acid)

Table 1 indicates a starting point for purification and activation method selection based on the desired outcome/requirements of the MOF under consideration. For example, procedures which are reported to remove coordinated solvents, such as microwave heating or UV/Vis irradiation, should be considered for producing MOFs with open metal sites. For thermally unstable MOFs, techniques which require minimal/no heating should be tested, such as solvent exchange or US exposure. For MOFs liable to framework collapse from surface tension capillary forces, techniques which have been tested on fragile MOFs should be examined, such as supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> processing or solvent exchange. If the MOF pores are blocked with organic linker molecules, US or UV/Vis irradiation could be tried.

Another key consideration when comparing techniques is their sustainability and scalability. If the procedure to synthesise, purify, and activate a MOF is considered unsustainable or unscalable, it is unlikely to be adopted at an industrial scale. Table 2 shows a qualitative analysis of purification and activation techniques, considering the benefits and challenges of each alongside an assessment of sustainability and scalability. Due to a lack of published data, a meaningful quantitative assessment of the various techniques has not been possible. As such, a traffic light system has been used to show the current approximate level of development from technical, sustainability, and scalability perspectives for each technique using calcination as a baseline. Both the benefits and challenges of each perspective are considered. Green implies a higher level of development compared with calcination, orange a similar level, and red a lower level. Calcination has been chosen as the baseline for comparison since it is the most established and is used for other porous materials such as carbons and zeolites on an industrial scale (see Section 3.1). When considering which technique to try from those which may be suitable for a MOF based on Table 1, Table 2 could then be used to choose the most appropriate route with respect to sustainability and scalability.

The cost of MOF synthesis, purification and activation is another important factor when exploring industrial scale production. Equipment (capital and operational), material and energy costs need to be considered when comparing procedures. A techno-economic analysis of four MOFs (MOF-5, HKUST-1, Mg-MOF-74 and Ni-MOF-74) and three production routes (solvothermal, liquid assisted grinding, and aqueous) was conducted by DeSantis *et al.* in 2017.<sup>147</sup> They found that solvents are a major cost contributor (40-80% of material costs, which are 50-90% of the total costs), even when assuming a 90% solvent recycle rate. Although they looked primarily at synthesis, the principles they employed would likely also apply to the purification and activation steps. Techniques which use less solvent or those that allow solvents to be more easily recovered and reused are expected to be much cheaper on an industrial scale. DeSantis *et al.* also drew attention to cost saving opportunities through the reduction of temperature and processing times, highlighting that high equipment capital costs can be less impactful than high energy requirements.<sup>147</sup> This point should also be considered for large-

scale purification and activation procedures, where high energy costs may prove more detrimental than expensive equipment set-ups.

Table 2: A comparison of purification and activation techniques, including an assessment of sustainability and scalability. The traffic light system shows an evaluation of the benefits and challenges and current level of development for each technique, in the three categories of technical level, sustainability, and scalability. Calcination has been used as a baseline for comparison, with green implying a higher level of development, orange a similar level, and red a lower level.

Technique	Technical Benefits	Technical Challenges	Sustainability Benefits	Sustainability Challenges	Example of technology scale in other applications	Scalability challenges for MOF purification or activation
Calcination (3.1)	Simple on lab-scale; Typically only involves 1 step	Possible loss of crystallinity and porosity due to capillary forces; some MOFs are sensitive to thermal decomposition	No additional solvents needed; Cheap on lab-scale; Potential to collect and reuse linkers/solvents	High energy, footprint, and time requirements; Potentially high OPEX	45,000 kg/h Model production capacity of an alumina rotary calciner <sup>148</sup>	Difficult to scale use of vacuum
Solvent Exchange (3.2)	Decreased capillary forces, less likely to cause framework collapse; Applicability to a wide range of MOFs and solvents	Still requires some level of heating and/or reduced pressure; Moisture-free argon-charged glove box required for DCM exchange	Reduced energy requirements due to removal of a lower boiling point solvent	Requires additional solvent; Some solvents are expensive or toxic; Difficult to collect solvents for reuse as mixed together	1 kg/h Solvent exchange in a modular continuous-flow production of an active pharmaceutical ingredient intermediate <sup>149</sup>	Difficult to scale use of vacuum; Processing large volumes of solvents which may be mixtures; Moisture-free atmosphere required for DCM exchange
Supercritical CO <sub>2</sub> (3.3)	Negligible surface tension so applicable to fragile MOFs; Reportedly a scalable technology; Applicability to a wide range of MOFs	MOFs containing open metal sites require additional heating to remove coordinated solvent; Specialised set up required	Non-toxic; CO <sub>2</sub> could be sourced from the environment through carbon capture; Flow processing possible	Potentially high energy and time costs from multiple stages, high OPEX; Solvent exchange often required prior to CO <sub>2</sub> activation, difficult to collect solvents for reuse; High CAPEX	40 kg/h CO <sub>2</sub> flow rate in a pilot plant pump used for extraction of oil seed rape <sup>95</sup>	Handling large volumes of solvents; Specialist CO <sub>2</sub> handling equipment required
Freeze-drying (3.4)	Sublimation avoids surface tension induced capillary forces preventing framework collapse	Unknown effects of crystal phase changes caused by the breathing effect; Not yet tested on a range of MOFs	N/A	Very energy and time demanding, high OPEX; Multiple solvents required, difficult to collect for reuse; High CAPEX	2,845 kg/h Input for a cylindrical chamber multi-zone continuous freeze- drying plant, used in the food and beverage industry for products such as instant coffee <sup>150</sup>	Handling large volumes of solvents; Potential heat and mass transfer issues for scale up beyond laboratory

Microwave Heating (3.5)	Quick process	Some MOFs and solvents may not be suited to microwave heating; Possible framework collapse with more fragile MOFs (yet to be determined)	Small plant footprint; Short heating times; Continuous processing possible; Energy-efficient and targeted heating; Solvent exchange not required	Potentially high CAPEX	100,000 kg/h Throughput of copper ore in a 100 kW continuous pilot scale microwave treatment system on a mine site <sup>151</sup>	Limited microwave penetration depth; Difficult to control temperature; Dielectric constants are variable giving non- uniform heating
Ultrasound (3.6)	Low temperatures could be of benefit to thermally unstable MOFs	Predominantly applied to carboxylate MOFs; Unknown effects on fragile MOFs; Further activation required	Low energy process; Low solvent requirements; Low OPEX and CAPEX; Works in water-based flow set up	Amide bases required to remove unreacted linkers	50 kg/h Paint flow through an ultrasound reactor to enhance pigment dispersion <sup>152</sup>	Difficult to get uniform ultrasound distribution upon scale up beyond laboratory
UV/Vis – radical (3.7)	Simple open-air, room temperature set up; Quick process	Only tested with one MOF; Radical process may not be applicable to other MOFs; Further activation required	Low energy and cheap process, low OPEX; Doesn't require additional solvents; Low CAPEX	Waste generated from organic linkers as they decompose; Needs a sustainable UV source	3 kg/h Product from a 2.2 kW continuous- flow large-scale photoreactor containing 440 m of PFA capillary tubing with a 3.5 L volume <sup>130</sup>	Penetration of UV light and attenuation of photon intensity with path length
UV/Vis – photothermal (3.7)	Simple, quick, single- step process	Only effective for MOFs with a photochemical response; Heating may damage thermally unstable MOFs	Low energy and cheap process, low OPEX; Doesn't require additional solvents; Low CAPEX	Needs a sustainable UV source	3 kg/h Product from a 2.2 kW continuous- flow large-scale photoreactor containing 440 m of PFA capillary tubing with a 3.5 L volume <sup>130</sup>	Difficult to control temperature; Penetration of UV light and attenuation of photon intensity with path length
Induction Heating (3.8)	Rapid and scalable technique	MOF must interact with magnetic field; Heating may damage thermally unstable MOFs; Yet to be tested for MOF purification or activation	Energy efficient heating; Low OPEX; Potentially low CAPEX	N/A	135 kg/h Treatment rate for iron in a continuous induction melter with a graphite-packed bed <sup>153</sup>	Non-uniform heating
Acid Treatment (3.9)	Helps to remove coordinating chemicals	MOFs require high chemical stability; Further activation required	N/A	Acid waste produced	N/A	Handling large volumes of acid waste

### 5 Conclusions and Future Outlook

The last two decades have seen substantial advancement in the field of MOFs, both in the discovery of new MOF structures and the expansion of their functional properties. Crucial to unlocking the potential of MOFs in real-world applications is the ability to produce them at the required scale, cost base, and in a sustainable manner. Today's enviro-economic situation has led to growing recognition and adoption of the circular economy concept in all industries, and as a result the scientific and engineering community are developing increasingly benign MOF production routes. Although MOF synthesis techniques are well reported and scalability and sustainability assessments have been made, the final key steps in producing MOFs, purification and activation (without which MOFs are essentially useless), are often overlooked.

In this review we have evaluated the technical benefits and challenges of current methods of MOF purification and activation including against principles from the circular economy model such as scalability, waste reduction, material reuse, energy efficiency, and environmental impact. Although purification and activation steps such as calcination and solvent exchange (sections 3.1 and 3.2, respectively) are well established, they are demanding from chemical use, time, and energy perspectives. Furthermore, the harsh conditions involved in these methods can lead to collapse of the MOF structure. To overcome these challenges, ultra-low surface tension solvent exchange, supercritical CO<sub>2</sub>, and freeze-drying techniques have been developed. Additionally, substantial improvements in time and energy efficiency compared to calcination and solvent exchange routes can be achieved using ultrasound (section 3.6) and technologies based on targeted heating such as microwave and UV-Vis (sections 3.5 and 3.7). However, further research is required to determine the applicability of targeted heating techniques to a wide range of MOFs. Another area for consideration is the opportunity for capturing and reusing the solvent and/or organic linkers left over after purification and/or activation. On an industrial scale, the quantities of solvent and unreacted linker are likely to be significant; waste and cost may be reduced if the processes were able to recover and reuse these components e.g. as feedstocks in the MOF synthesis. Finally, evaluation of purification and activation of MOF by life cycle assessment (LCA) and techno-economic analysis (TEA) would ensure that processes developed are sustainable on a life cycle basis, which is crucial to transitioning MOFs from the lab to industrial production and application.

MOFs are a class of materials that have many potential applications within a wider future circular economy; given the current stage of MOF development and commercialisation, there is also an opportunity for the MOF industry to develop as a circular one.

# 6 Conflicts of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest to declare.

# 7 Acknowledgements

The authors give thanks to and acknowledge funding from the EPSRC and SFI Centre for Doctoral Training in Sustainable Chemistry: Atoms-2-Products an Integrated Approach to Sustainable Chemistry (grant number: EP/S022236/1).

### References

- 1 O. M. Yaghi and H. Li, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1995, **117**, 10401–10402.
- 2 J.-R. Li, R. J. Kuppler and H.-C. Zhou, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2009, **38**, 1477–1504.
- 3 L. J. Murray, M. Dincă and J. R. Long, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2009, **38**, 1294–1314.
- 4 Y. Ren, G. H. Chia and Z. Gao, *Nano Today*, 2013, **8**, 577–597.
- 5 T. Zhang and W. Lin, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2014, **43**, 5982–5993.
- 6 L. E. Kreno, K. Leong, O. K. Farha, M. Allendorf, R. P. Van Duyne and J. T. Hupp, *Chem. Rev.*, 2012, **112**, 1105–1125.
- J. Lee, O. K. Farha, J. Roberts, K. A. Scheidt, S. T. Nguyen and J. T. Hupp, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2009, 38, 1450–1459.
- 8 P. Horcajada, R. Gref, T. Baati, P. K. Allan, G. Maurin, P. Couvreur, G. Férey, R. E. Morris and C. Serre, *Chem. Rev.*, 2012, **112**, 1232–1268.
- 9 H. Furukawa, K. E. Cordova, M. O'Keeffe and O. M. Yaghi, *Science (80-. ).*, 2013, 341, 1230444.
- 10 P. Silva, S. M. F. Vilela, J. P. C. Tomé and F. A. Almeida Paz, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2015, **44**, 6774–6803.
- 11 PrometheanParticles, https://www.prometheanparticles.co.uk/, (accessed 12 August 2020).
- 12 N. Notman, MOFs find a use, https://www.chemistryworld.com/features/mofs-find-ause/2500508.article?adredir=1, (accessed 11 August 2020).
- 13 N. Stock and S. Biswas, *Chem. Rev.*, 2012, **112**, 933–969.
- 14 B. M. Connolly, J. P. Mehta, P. Z. Moghadam, A. E. H. Wheatley and D. Fairen-Jimenez, *Curr. Opin. Green Sustain. Chem.*, 2018, **12**, 47–56.
- 15 P. A. Julien, C. Mottillo and T. Friščić, *Green Chem.*, 2017, **19**, 2729–2747.
- 16 E.-S. M. El-Sayed and D. Yuan, *Green Chem.*, 2020, **22**, 4082–4104.
- 17 J. E. Mondloch, O. Karagiaridi, O. K. Farha and J. T. Hupp, *CrystEngComm*, 2013, **15**, 9258.

- 18 J. Ma, A. P. Kalenak, A. G. Wong-Foy and A. J. Matzger, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 2017, **56**, 14618–14621.
- 19 M. F. Dapaah and B. Liu, J. Inorg. Organomet. Polym. Mater., 2020, **30**, 581–595.
- 20 L. H. Wee, M. R. Lohe, N. Janssens, S. Kaskel and J. A. Martens, *J. Mater. Chem.*, 2012, **22**, 13742–13746.
- 21 E. J. Lee, J. Bae, K. M. Choi and N. C. Jeong, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2019, **11**, 35155–35161.
- 22 J. Espín, L. Garzón-Tovar, A. Carné-Sánchez, I. Imaz and D. Maspoch, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2018, **10**, 9555–9562.
- 23 M. Rubio-Martinez, T. Leong, P. Juliano, T. D. Hadley, M. P. Batten, A. Polyzos, K.-S. Lim and M. R. Hill, *RSC Adv.*, 2016, **6**, 5523–5527.
- J. Kirchherr, D. Reike and M. Hekkert, *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.*, 2017, **127**, 221–232.
- 25 T. Keijer, V. Bakker and J. C. Slootweg, *Nat. Chem.*, 2019, **11**, 190–195.
- 26 The World Commission on Environment and Development, *Our Common Future*, Oxford University Press, 1987.
- 27 J. Elkington, *Environ. Qual. Manag.*, 1998, **8**, 37–51.
- 28 J. W. Bennett, D. W. Pearce and R. K. Turner, Am. J. Agric. Econ., 1991, 73, 227.
- 29 H.-G. Pöttering and J.-P. Jouyet, *Off. J. Eur. Union*, 2008, **L312**, 3–30.
- 30 D. Bourguignon, *Closing the loop: New circular economy package*, 2016.
- 31 F. Zhijun and Y. Nailing, *Sustain. Sci.*, 2007, **2**, 95–101.
- 32 T. Friščić, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2012, **41**, 3493–3510.
- S. L. James, C. J. Adams, C. Bolm, D. Braga, P. Collier, T. Friščić, F. Grepioni, K. D. M. Harris, G. Hyett, W. Jones, A. Krebs, J. Mack, L. Maini, A. G. Orpen, I. P. Parkin, W. C. Shearouse, J. W. Steed and D. C. Waddell, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2012, 41, 413–447.
- 34 I. Thomas-Hillman, A. Laybourn, C. Dodds and S. W. Kingman, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2018, **6**, 11564–11581.
- 35 H. Li, M. M. Sadiq, K. Suzuki, P. Falcaro, A. J. Hill and M. R. Hill, *Chem. Mater.*, 2017, **29**, 6186–6190.
- 36 V. Castellani, S. Sala and N. Mirabella, *Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag.*, 2015, **11**, 373–382.
- 37 C. A. Trickett, A. Helal, B. A. Al-Maythalony, Z. H. Yamani, K. E. Cordova and O. M. Yaghi, *Nat. Rev. Mater.*, 2017, **2**, 17045.
- 38 W. R. Stahel, *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.*, 2013, **371**, 20110567.
- P. Ghisellini, C. Cialani and S. Ulgiati, J. Clean. Prod., 2016, 114, 11–32.
- 40 X. Zhang, A. Chen, M. Zhong, Z. Zhang, X. Zhang, Z. Zhou and X.-H. Bu, *Electrochem. Energy Rev.*, 2019, **2**, 29–104.
- 41 U.-H. Lee, A. H. Valekar, Y. K. Hwang and J.-S. Chang, in *The Chemistry of Metal–Organic Frameworks*, ed. S. Kaskel, 2016, pp. 551–572.
- 42 J. Cousin-Saint-Remi, A.-L. Finoulst, C. Jabbour, G. V Baron and J. F. M. Denayer, *Microporous*

Mesoporous Mater., 2019, 109322.

- 43 Ellen MacArthur Foundation, *Towards the Circular Economy Vol. 3: Accelerating the scale-up across global supply chains*, 2014.
- 44 Ellen MacArthur Foundation, The Circular Economy in Detail, https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/EXPLORE/THE-CIRCULAR-ECONOMY-IN-DETAIL, (accessed 12 August 2020).
- 45 Z. Yin, S. Wan, J. Yang, M. Kurmoo and M.-H. Zeng, *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, 2019, **378**, 500–512.
- 46 P. Anastas and J. Warner, *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice*, Oxford University Press, 1998.
- 47 G. M. Whitesides, Angew. Chemie Int. Ed., 2015, 54, 3196–3209.
- 48 S. Dahiya, A. N. Kumar, J. Shanthi Sravan, S. Chatterjee, O. Sarkar and S. V. Mohan, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2018, **248**, 2–12.
- 49 M. H. A. Nasir, A. Genovese, A. A. Acquaye, S. C. L. Koh and F. Yamoah, *Int. J. Prod. Econ.*, 2017, **183**, 443–457.
- 50 J. H. Clark, T. J. Farmer, L. Herrero-Davila and J. Sherwood, *Green Chem.*, 2016, **18**, 3914–3934.
- 51 M. Aresta and A. Dibenedetto, *Dalt. Trans.*, 2007, 2975–2992.
- 52 K. Matsuyama, J. Supercrit. Fluids, 2018, **134**, 197–203.
- 53 A. J. Howarth, A. W. Peters, N. A. Vermeulen, T. C. Wang, J. T. Hupp and O. K. Farha, *Chem. Mater.*, 2017, **29**, 26–39.
- 54 T. Düren, Y.-S. Bae and R. Q. Snurr, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2009, **38**, 1237–1247.
- 55 J. V Alemán, A. V Chadwick, J. He, M. Hess, K. Horie, R. G. Jones, P. Kratochvíl, I. Meisel, I. Mita, G. Moad, S. Penczek and R. F. T. Stepto, *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 2007, **79**, 1801–1829.
- 56 H.-L. Jiang, B. Liu, Y.-Q. Lan, K. Kuratani, T. Akita, H. Shioyama, F. Zong and Q. Xu, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2011, **133**, 11854–11857.
- 57 J. H. Cavka, S. Jakobsen, U. Olsbye, N. Guillou, C. Lamberti, S. Bordiga and K. P. Lillerud, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2008, **130**, 13850–13851.
- 58 H. Li, M. Eddaoudi, T. L. Groy and O. M. Yaghi, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1998, **120**, 8571–8572.
- 59 C. J. Kepert and M. J. Rosseinsky, *Chem. Commun.*, 1999, 375–376.
- 60 C. J. Kepert, D. Hesek, P. D. Beer and M. J. Rosseinsky, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 1998, **37**, 3158–3160.
- 61 T. Loiseau, C. Serre, C. Huguenard, G. Fink, F. Taulelle, M. Henry, T. Bataille and G. Férey, *Chemistry*, 2004, **10**, 1373–82.
- A. Taheri, E. G. Babakhani and J. Towfighi, *Adsorpt. Sci. Technol.*, 2017, **36**, 247–269.
- 63 C. A. Lucchesi and W. T. Lewis, J. Chem. Eng. Data, 1968, **13**, 389–391.
- 64 O. K. Farha and J. T. Hupp, Acc. Chem. Res., 2010, 43, 1166–1175.
- 65 B. F. Abrahams, B. F. Hoskins, D. M. Michail and R. Robson, *Nature*, 1994, **369**, 727–729.
- 66 C. Healy, K. M. Patil, B. H. Wilson, L. Hermanspahn, N. C. Harvey-Reid, B. I. Howard, C. Kleinjan, J. Kolien, F. Payet, S. G. Telfer, P. E. Kruger and T. D. Bennett, *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, 2020, **419**,

213388.

- 67 U. Mueller, M. Schubert, F. Teich, H. Puetter, K. Schierle-Arndt and J. Pastré, J. Mater. Chem., 2006, **16**, 626–636.
- 68 K.-S. Lin, A. K. Adhikari, C.-N. Ku, C.-L. Chiang and H. Kuo, *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 2012, **37**, 13865–13871.
- 69 S. Yang, J. Sun, A. J. Ramirez-Cuesta, S. K. Callear, W. I. F. David, D. P. Anderson, R. Newby, A. J. Blake, J. E. Parker, C. C. Tang and M. Schröder, *Nat. Chem.*, 2012, **4**, 887–894.
- 70 I. Thomas-Hillman, L. A. Stevens, M. Lange, J. Möllmer, W. Lewis, C. Dodds, S. W. Kingman and A. Laybourn, *Green Chem.*, 2019, **21**, 5039–5045.
- 71 T. Ratvijitvech, R. Dawson, A. Laybourn, Y. Z. Khimyak, D. J. Adams and A. I. Cooper, *Polymer* (*Guildf*)., 2014, **55**, 321–325.
- 72 S. Ren, R. Dawson, A. Laybourn, J. Jiang, Y. Khimyak, D. J. Adams and A. I. Cooper, *Polym. Chem.*, 2012, **3**, 928–934.
- 73 A. Laybourn, R. Dawson, R. Clowes, J. A. Iggo, A. I. Cooper, Y. Z. Khimyak and D. J. Adams, *Polym. Chem.*, 2012, **3**, 533–537.
- A. Laybourn, R. Dawson, R. Clowes, T. Hasell, A. I. Cooper, Y. Z. Khimyak and D. J. Adams, *Polym. Chem.*, 2014, **5**, 6325–6333.
- 75 U. Böhme, B. Barth, C. Paula, A. Kuhnt, W. Schwieger, A. Mundstock, J. Caro and M. Hartmann, *Langmuir*, 2013, **29**, 8592–8600.
- 76 H. Li, M. Eddaoudi, M. O'Keeffe and O. M. Yaghi, *Nature*, 1999, **402**, 276–279.
- M. Eddaoudi, J. Kim, N. Rosi, D. Vodak, J. Wachter, M. O'Keeffe and O. M. Yaghi, *Science (80-.*)., 2002, **295**, 469–472.
- A. P. Nelson, O. K. Farha, K. L. Mulfort and J. T. Hupp, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2009, **131**, 458–460.
- 79 K. Koh, J. D. Van Oosterhout, S. Roy, A. G. Wong-Foy and A. J. Matzger, *Chem. Sci.*, 2012, **3**, 2429.
- 80 R. A. Dodson, A. G. Wong-Foy and A. J. Matzger, *Chem. Mater.*, 2018, **30**, 6559–6565.
- 81 H. K. Kim, W. S. Yun, M.-B. Kim, J. Y. Kim, Y.-S. Bae, J. Lee and N. C. Jeong, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2015, **137**, 10009–10015.
- 82 J. Bae, J. S. Choi, S. Hwang, W. S. Yun, D. Song, J. Lee and N. C. Jeong, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2017, **9**, 24743–24752.
- 83 J. Bae, E. J. Lee and N. C. Jeong, *Chem. Commun.*, 2018, **54**, 6458–6471.
- 84 J. S. Choi, J. Bae, E. J. Lee and N. C. Jeong, *Inorg. Chem.*, 2018, **57**, 5225–5231.
- 85 M. H. Mohamed, Y. Yang, L. Li, S. Zhang, J. P. Ruffley, A. G. Jarvi, S. Saxena, G. Veser, J. K. Johnson and N. L. Rosi, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2019, **141**, 13003–13007.
- 86 D. Prat, A. Wells, J. Hayler, H. Sneddon, C. R. McElroy, S. Abou-Shehada and P. J. Dunn, *Green Chem.*, 2016, **18**, 288–296.
- 87 Z. Xiang, D. Cao, X. Shao, W. Wang, J. Zhang and W. Wu, *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, 2010, **65**, 3140–3146.
- 88 O. K. Farha, A. Özgür Yazaydın, I. Eryazici, C. D. Malliakas, B. G. Hauser, M. G. Kanatzidis, S. T.

Nguyen, R. Q. Snurr and J. T. Hupp, Nat. Chem., 2010, 2, 944–948.

- 89 H. Furukawa, N. Ko, Y. B. Go, N. Aratani, S. B. Choi, E. Choi, A. O. Yazaydin, R. Q. Snurr, M. O'Keeffe, J. Kim and O. M. Yaghi, *Science (80-. ).*, 2010, **329**, 424–428.
- 90 O. K. Farha, I. Eryazici, N. C. Jeong, B. G. Hauser, C. E. Wilmer, A. A. Sarjeant, R. Q. Snurr, S. T. Nguyen, A. Ö. Yazaydın and J. T. Hupp, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2012, **134**, 15016–15021.
- 91 K. Matsuyama, M. Motomura, T. Kato, T. Okuyama and H. Muto, *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.*, 2016, **225**, 26–32.
- 92 P. Horcajada, C. Serre, M. Vallet-Regí, M. Sebban, F. Taulelle and G. Férey, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 2006, **45**, 5974–5978.
- 93 G. Férey, C. Mellot-Draznieks, C. Serre, F. Millange, J. Dutour, S. Surblé and I. Margiolaki, *Science* (80-. )., 2005, **309**, 2040 LP 2042.
- 94 B. Liu, A. G. Wong-Foy and A. J. Matzger, *Chem. Commun.*, 2013, **49**, 1419–1421.
- L. Martin, C. Skinner and R. J. Marriott, J. Supercrit. Fluids, 2015, 105, 55–59.
- 96 E. J. Beckman, J. Supercrit. Fluids, 2004, 28, 121–191.
- 97 L. Qian and H. Zhang, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 2011, 86, 172–184.
- 98 L. Ma, A. Jin, Z. Xie and W. Lin, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 2009, **48**, 9905–9908.
- 99 C. Serre, F. Millange, C. Thouvenot, M. Noguès, G. Marsolier, D. Louër and G. Férey, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2002, **124**, 13519–13526.
- 100 Y.-P. He, Y.-X. Tan and J. Zhang, *Inorg. Chem.*, 2012, **51**, 11232–11234.
- 101 C. Ratti, J. Food Eng., 2001, 49, 311–319.
- 102 A. G. Renteria Gamiz, J. Dewulf, W. De Soete, B. Heirman, P. Dahlin, C. Jurisch, U. Krebser and S. De Meester, *Food Bioprod. Process.*, 2019, **117**, 213–223.
- 103 N. Luo and H. Shu, *Procedia Eng.*, 2017, **205**, 3763–3768.
- 104 S. Rambhatla and M. J. Pikal, AAPS PharmSciTech, 2003, 4, 22–31.
- 105 X. Meng and F.-S. Xiao, *Chem. Rev.*, 2014, **114**, 1521–1543.
- 106 G. A. Tompsett, W. C. Conner and K. S. Yngvesson, *ChemPhysChem*, 2006, **7**, 296–319.
- 107 H. Nigar, B. Garcia-Baños, F. L. Peñaranda-Foix, J. M. Catalá-Civera, R. Mallada and J. Santamaría, *AIChE J.*, 2016, **62**, 547–555.
- 108 N. A. Pinchukova, A. Y. Voloshko, V. N. Baumer, O. V Shishkin and V. A. Chebanov, *Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif.*, 2015, **95**, 151–158.
- 109 K. Y. Foo and B. H. Hameed, *Bioresour. Technol.*, 2012, **119**, 234–240.
- 110 N. L. Campbell, R. Clowes, L. K. Ritchie and A. I. Cooper, *Chem. Mater.*, 2009, **21**, 204–206.
- 111 S.-Y. Ding and W. Wang, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2013, 42, 548–568.
- 112 L. K. Ritchie, A. Trewin, A. Reguera-Galan, T. Hasell and A. I. Cooper, *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.*, 2010, **132**, 132–136.
- 113 Y. Kalinovskyy, N. J. Cooper, M. J. Main, S. J. Holder and B. A. Blight, *Dalt. Trans.*, 2017, **46**, 15704–15709.

- 114 P. A. Mello, J. S. Barin and R. A. Guarnieri, in *Microwave-Assisted Sample Preparation for Trace Element Analysis*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2014, pp. 59–75.
- 115 A. J. Buttress, J. Katrib, D. A. Jones, A. R. Batchelor, D. A. Craig, T. A. Royal, C. Dodds and S. W. Kingman, *Miner. Eng.*, 2017, **109**, 169–183.
- A. R. Batchelor, A. J. Buttress, D. A. Jones, J. Katrib, D. Way, T. Chenje, D. Stoll, C. Dodds and S. W. Kingman, *Miner. Eng.*, 2017, **111**, 5–24.
- 117 Y. Li, M. Radoiu, A.-S. Fabiano-Tixier and F. Chemat, in *Microwave-assisted Extraction for Bioactive Compounds*, eds. F. Chemat and G. Cravotto, Springer US, Boston, MA, 2012, pp. 207–229.
- 118 D. Bathen, Sep. Purif. Technol., 2003, **33**, 163–177.
- 119 US Pat., 4 322 394, 1982.
- 120 E. Haque, N. A. Khan, J. E. Lee and S. H. Jhung, Chem. A Eur. J., 2009, 15, 11730–11736.
- S. S.-Y. Chui, S. M.-F. Lo, J. P. H. Charmant, A. G. Orpen and I. D. Williams, *Science (80-. ).*, 1999, 283, 1148 LP 1150.
- 122 F. Israr, D. K. Kim, Y. Kim, S. J. Oh, K. C. Ng and W. Chun, Ultrason. Sonochem., 2016, 29, 186– 193.
- 123 Z. Dong, C. Delacour, K. Mc Carogher, A. P. Udepurkar and S. Kuhn, *Materials (Basel).*, 2020, **13**, 344.
- 124 A. S. Munn, P. W. Dunne, S. V. Y. Tang and E. H. Lester, *Chem. Commun.*, 2015, **51**, 12811– 12814.
- 125 M.-T. H. Nguyen and Q.-T. Nguyen, J. Photochem. Photobiol. A Chem., 2014, 288, 55–59.
- 126 L. Ai, C. Zhang, L. Li and J. Jiang, Appl. Catal. B Environ., 2014, 148–149, 191–200.
- 127 O. Neumann, A. S. Urban, J. Day, S. Lal, P. Nordlander and N. J. Halas, ACS Nano, 2013, 7, 42–49.
- 128 H. Li and M. R. Hill, Acc. Chem. Res., 2017, 50, 778–786.
- 129 H. Li, M. R. Hill, C. Doblin, S. Lim, A. J. Hill and P. Falcaro, *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, 2016, **26**, 4815–4821.
- 130 T. Noël, J. Flow Chem., 2017, 7, 87–93.
- 131 A. Zadražil and F. Štěpánek, *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, 2013, **101**, 382–389.
- 132 H. Li, M. M. Sadiq, K. Suzuki, R. Ricco, C. Doblin, A. J. Hill, S. Lim, P. Falcaro and M. R. Hill, *Adv. Mater.*, 2016, **28**, 1839–1844.
- 133 M. M. Sadiq, K. Suzuki and M. R. Hill, *Chem. Commun.*, 2018, **54**, 2825–2837.
- 134 M. M. Sadiq, H. Li, A. J. Hill, P. Falcaro, M. R. Hill and K. Suzuki, *Chem. Mater.*, 2016, **28**, 6219–6226.
- 135 H. Li, M. M. Sadiq, K. Suzuki, C. Doblin, S. Lim, P. Falcaro, A. J. Hill and M. R. Hill, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2016, **4**, 18757–18762.
- 136 M. M. Sadiq, M. Rubio-Martinez, F. Zadehahmadi, K. Suzuki and M. R. Hill, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2018, **57**, 6040–6047.

- 137 L. Melag, M. M. Sadiq, S. J. D. Smith, K. Konstas, K. Suzuki and M. R. Hill, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2019, **7**, 3790–3796.
- 138 Y. Tao, G. Huang, H. Li and M. R. Hill, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng., 2019, 7, 13627–13632.
- 139 R. Ricco, L. Malfatti, M. Takahashi, A. J. Hill and P. Falcaro, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2013, **1**, 13033–13045.
- 140 J. E. Mondloch, W. Bury, D. Fairen-Jimenez, S. Kwon, E. J. DeMarco, M. H. Weston, A. A. Sarjeant, S. T. Nguyen, P. C. Stair, R. Q. Snurr, O. K. Farha and J. T. Hupp, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2013, **135**, 10294–10297.
- 141 D. Feng, Z.-Y. Gu, J.-R. Li, H.-L. Jiang, Z. Wei and H.-C. Zhou, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 2012, **51**, 10307–10310.
- 142 K. Wang, C. Li, Y. Liang, T. Han, H. Huang, Q. Yang, D. Liu and C. Zhong, *Chem. Eng. J.*, 2016, **289**, 486–493.
- 143 A. Schaate, P. Roy, A. Godt, J. Lippke, F. Waltz, M. Wiebcke and P. Behrens, *Chem. A Eur. J.*, 2011, **17**, 6643–6651.
- 144 R. S. Forgan, *Chem. Sci.*, 2020, **11**, 4546–4562.
- 145 M. Ding, X. Cai and H.-L. Jiang, *Chem. Sci.*, 2019, **10**, 10209–10230.
- Y. Zhang, X. Zhang, J. Lyu, K. Otake, X. Wang, L. R. Redfern, C. D. Malliakas, Z. Li, T. Islamoglu,
  B. Wang and O. K. Farha, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2018, **140**, 11179–11183.
- 147 D. DeSantis, J. A. Mason, B. D. James, C. Houchins, J. R. Long and M. Veenstra, *Energy & Fuels*, 2017, **31**, 2024–2032.
- 148 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Calciners and Dryers in Mineral Industries Background Information for Proposed Standards*, 1985.
- 149 P. Anastas, in *Green Chemical Engineering, Volume 12*, ed. A. Lapkin, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 1st edn., 2018.
- 150 GEA Denmark, CONRAD Freeze Dryer, https://www.gea.com/en/products/conrad-freezedryer.jsp, (accessed 25 February 2020).
- 151 A. R. Batchelor, R. S. Ferrari-John, C. Dodds and S. W. Kingman, *Miner. Eng.*, 2016, **98**, 328–338.
- 152 J. A. Gallego-Juárez, in *Woodhead Publishing Series in Electronic and Optical Materials*, ed. K. Nakamura, Woodhead Publishing, 2012, pp. 476–516.
- 153 T. Matsuo, T. Kondou and K. Ueda, *ISIJ Int.*, 1999, **39**, 388–395.